#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 20 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COUNT By\_ Citief Deputy Mistly

THOMAS LEE GUDINAS,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NUMBER 86,070

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In referring to the record on appeal, the following symbols will be used:

(R) -- to refer to the thirteen volume record on appeal including ten volumes of various hearings (Volumes 1-10, Pages 1-198), and three volumes of pleadings (Volumes 11-13, Pages 199-655);

(T) -- to refer to the five volumes of transcript of the quilt phase (Volumes 1-5, Pages 1-891);

(P) -- to refer to the two volumes of transcript of the penalty phase (Volumes 1-2, Pages 1-350), and;

(SR) -- to refer to the two volumes of supplemental record (Volumes 1-2, Pages 1-35).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 1994, the State indicted Thomas Lee Gudinas charging him with first-degree murder, attempted sexual battery, attempted burglary with an assault, and two counts of sexual battery. (R209-11) On August 18, 1994, the trial court granted the Public Defender's motion to withdraw and appointed private counsel. (R227-31,233)

Appellant filed numerous pretrial attacks on the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme. Most of these were denied. (R257-73,278-321,459-91; SR1-22)

On November 10, 1994, the trial court conducted a hearing on defense counsel's motion to withdraw and took the motion under advisement. The trial court also heard complaints from the Appellant concerning the representation provided by his lawyer. (R33-64,382-83) The trial court subsequently denied counsel's motion to withdraw. (R384)

Appellant filed a motion to sever the attempted burglary and attempted sexual battery charges from the remaining counts. (R392-93) Appellant contended that these crimes were unrelated to the other charges. Following a hearing, the trial court denied Appellant's motion to sever. (R67-84,396,402-5) In mid-December, 1994, this case was reassigned from the Honorable Daniel P. Dawson to the Honorable Belvin Perry, Jr. (R399,405)

On March 19, 1995, the trial court heard numerous pretrial motions filed by the Appellant. (R454-55) The court granted Appellant's motion for juror questionnaires and one motion in

limine. (R454-55) The court deferred ruling on Appellant's motions regarding victim impact evidence. (R455)

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion to prohibit argument and/or instructions concerning first-degree felony murder. (R278-79) The trial court denied the motion at a pretrial hearing.<sup>1</sup> (SR12)

The trial court granted Appellant's motion for change of venue and subsequently transferred venue to the Twentieth Judicial Circuit, Collier County, Naples, Florida. (R331-34,411, 415)

The case proceeded to a jury trial on May 1, 1995. (T1-891) During the guilt phase, the trial court overruled Appellant's strenuous objections to the State's use of gruesome photographs. (R316-17; SR15-18; T209-20,405) The trial court also overruled Appellant's objections to the State's use of the same photographs at the penalty phase. (P265-68)

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal as to all counts, which the trial court denied. (T732-35) Appellant rested after presenting the testimony of one witness, who was called out of order. (T716-20,742-46) The trial court denied Appellant's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal. (T742-46) Following deliberation, the jury found Thomas Gudinas guilty as charged on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court instructed the jury on both theories of murder. (T860-62) The jury ultimately returned a general verdict finding Gudinas guilty of murder in the first degree, as charged in the indictment. (R542)

all counts. (T881-90; R538-42)

The penalty phase commenced on May 8, 1995. (P1-343) The trial court excluded the State's proffer of victim impact evidence and heard such testimony and evidence outside the presence of the jury. (P8-25; R124-70,171-98) The State introduced three prior convictions and rested. (P44-49) The trial court denied several requests by the Appellant for special jury instructions. (R447-50,550-51; P237-41) Over Appellant's objection the court modified the standard instruction regarding the burden of proof for mitigating circumstances. (P243-49) Following deliberation, the jury returned with a recommendation that Thomas Gudinas be sentenced to death. (P340-43; R562-63)

The trial court adjudicated Gudinas guilty. (R584-85) The court sentenced Gudinas to thirty years as to Count I (attempted burglary with an assault), thirty years on Count II (attempted sexual battery), life imprisonment on Count III (sexual battery), life imprisonment as to Count IV (sexual battery), and death as to Count V (first-degree murder). (R589-603) The trial court rendered a sentencing order finding three aggravating circumstances, one statutory mitigating circumstance, and twelve nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. (R611-33) Appellant filed a notice of appeal on June 12, 1995. (R636) This Court has jurisdiction.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2</sup> Art. V, §3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### GUILT PHASE

Between 10:30 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. on May 23, 1994, Michelle McGrath parked her red compact car in the parking lot of Scruffy Murphy, a popular downtown Orlando bar. (T272-77) McGrath was a regular club-goer who frequented the area three or four times a week. (T278-79) McGrath drank and socialized for the next several hours at Skinny Dick's and Barbarella's, two downtown bars. (T281-88) Troy Anderson, a friend of McGrath's, last saw her that evening at approximately 2:45 a.m. in the courtyard out back of Barbarella's. (T281-86) At approximately 7:30 a.m. the next day, a Pace School employee discovered Michelle McGrath's body in a downtown alley. (T299-301,346) The cause of death was brain hemorrhage resulting from blunt force injuries to her head. McGrath had a blood alcohol level of .17. (T444)(T444)Serologists found evidence of semen in her vagina. (T726-27) The medical examiner estimated the time of death to be between 3:00 and 5:00 a.m. (T449)

The State's case against Thomas Gudinas was based in large part on circumstantial evidence. At the time of the murder, Gudinas was living in a two bedroom apartment with his cousins Fred and Dwayne Harris along with Mark and Todd Gates. (T574) Todd Gates drove Fred, Mark, and the Appellant to Barbarella's that evening, arriving between 8:30 and 9:00 p.m. (T606-8) For \$5.00, a customer could drink all the draft beer he could stomach at Barbarella's that night. Michelob bottles were on sale for a

dollar each. (T583-84)

Thomas Gudinas bore a striking resemblance to his cousin, Fred Harris. In fact, Gudinas, who was only 20 at the time, used Fred's ID to get into the bar that night. (T632-37,657) The boys drank and socialized that evening. They did not remain strictly together as a group. Each went their own way at various points in the evening. (T609)

Dwayne Harris arrived at Barbarella's at approximately 1:00 a.m. in the company of Frank Wrigley. (T569-72,674-78) Wrigley noticed that Gudinas already had a "buzz on" and had a drink in his hand. (T583) During the evening at the bar, various members of the group (Appellant included) made trips to the parking lot to smoke marijuana. (T580-82,588,618-19,660-63) Before going to Barbarella's, the group had drunk beer and smoked pot at the apartment as well as on the ride downtown. (T620,659,697)

When Barbarella's closed at 3:00 a.m., no one could seem to find Thomas Gudinas. (T573,584,610-11,634-42,678-80) Frank Wrigley drove back to the apartment in his truck with Fred and Dwayne Harris as passengers. (T574) Todd Gates used his own truck to drive his brother Mark back to the apartment. (T611-12) When they did not find Gudinas already at the apartment, Todd drove Fred back downtown to search for him. They drove around the downtown area for approximately fifteen minutes before returning to the apartment at about 4:00 a.m. (T612-13,641) Back at the apartment, several of the boys stayed up drinking some more beer. (T575)

Gudinas returned to the apartment at approximately 7:30 a.m. the next morning. (T684) When questioned about the scratches on his knuckles, Gudinas explained that he was attacked by two assailants during a robbery attempt. (T577-78,614-16,643-45,685-89) Gudinas showed his roommates the boxer shorts he had worn during the attack. The crotch area had a red stain that appeared to be blood. (T615-16,630-32,643-45,686-89) Gudinas explained that his attackers had forced him to remove his pants. (T645)

In the days following the murder, Dwayne and Fred Harris were drinking and playing cards with Gudinas. Dwayne Harris jokingly accused Gudinas of committing the murder. Harris then asked Gudinas if McGrath was a "good fuck." Gudinas continued the nonsense saying, "Yes, and I fucked her while she was dead." All parties to the conversation for the most part agreed that everyone was fairly intoxicated and no one took the subject seriously, i.e., it was believed to be merely a sick joke.<sup>3</sup> (T648-55,658-59,689-91,693-94)

Rachelle Smith was at Barbarella's that night with her fiancee. She left the bar about 2:00 a.m. and proceeded to find their car while her fiancee remained in the bar saying goodbye to friends. Smith initially went to the wrong parking lot where she saw a man lurking in the first row of cars. She eventually found the right parking lot and got into the passenger seat and immediately locked her car. She then noticed in her mirror the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> However, Harris did admit that when Gudinas made the statement, it was weird. He sort of seemed serious.

same man who had been acting suspiciously in the other parking lot. After acting as if he was getting into a nearby car, he attempted to open Smith's locked car door. He then tried her driver's door with no success. He then wrapped his hand in his shirt tail and twice slammed his fist into the driver's window in an apparent attempt to break it. At the same time he yelled, "I want to fuck you." Smith screamed and began honking the horn. Her assailant then fled. (T251-62) Smith identified Thomas Gudinas at trial and in a photographic lineup after the incident. (T262-63)

On May 24th, Jane Brand arrived at her job at the Pace School in downtown Orlando at her usual time of approximately 7:00 a.m. When she went to unlock the gate, she saw a young male sitting on the steps in the courtyard behind the school. The man's back was facing Brand when she discovered him. Brand described him as approximately eighteen years old with short brown hair, and very average-looking. He wore dark, loosefitting shorts. Brand told the man that he would have to leave. With his back still facing Brand, the man stood up and appeared to be either tucking in his shirt or doing something to the front of his shorts. He walked up the steps that ended at the brick wall behind the school. Brand offered to let him leave by opening the gate. He mumbled something, perhaps a negative response. He walked up the steps, climbed over the wall, and jumped into the alley behind the school. (T290-9)

Brand admitted that she did not get a good look at the

culprit, only one or two minutes. She could not identify Gudinas as the man until approximately one month before trial. At that time, she saw Gudinas walking in a television report and concluded that he was the same individual she saw in the courtyard that morning. (T302-7)

Brand walked through the courtyard and entered the school. After turning off the security alarm, she sat at her desk and ate breakfast. She heard someone walking in the alley and believed that it was the young man leaving the area. About 7:15, Brand heard a crash and later realized that it was the sound of the gate shutting. (T296-99) At approximately 7:30, Brand left her classroom and walked up the stairs in the courtyard to look into the alley to make sure the intruder had left. She spotted Michelle McGrath's body, promptly called her supervisor, and then 911. (T299-301) Outside the school, Brand flagged down Officer Chisari of the Orlando Police Department bicycle patrol. (T302)

Culbert Pressley is a well-known transient who frequents downtown Orlando. Every weekend morning at dawn, Pressley searches the area for lost valuables. (T309-12) Between 4:00 and 5:00 a.m. on May 24th, Pressley found Michelle McGrath's keys next to a bundle of clothes by a red car in the parking lot next to Pace School and Scruffy Murphy's. (T309-12) Noticing that the keychain had a souvenir picture from Howl At The Moon (another club), Pressley went to the bar which was not yet opened. (T312-14) He returned to Scruffy Murphy's parking lot and unsuccessfully attempted to convince a female deputy to run

the picture on the keychain on the police computer. Pressley then wiled away the next couple of hours sitting on a downtown bench. (T314-16) Shortly after 7:00 a.m., a man whom Pressley subsequently identified as Gudinas, came walking down the sidewalk. (T316-18,324-26) When the man saw the keys Pressley had found, he said, "Those look like my keys, I've been looking for them all morning." Pressley asked for a reward and the stranger promised to give him \$50.00 at a later time. (T316-18) The sirens of the arriving emergency vehicles ended their discussion, and Gudinas walked away.

Officer Chisari heard from the female deputy sheriff that Pressley had found some keys. (T336-41) When Chisari approached Pressley and asked about the keys, Pressley explained that he had just given them to "that man," pointing to an individual walking south. (T342) As Chisari rode his bicycle toward the man with the keys, Chisari heard Jane Brand scream as she spotted McGrath's body in the alley. (T343-45) Chisari responded to the scene and found McGrath's body. Thinking that the individual with the keys might have had something to do with the death, Chisari went back toward the parking lot. (T345) He saw a man he subsequently identified as Thomas Gudinas driving a red Geo Metro from the Scruffy Murphy's parking lot. (T345-50,351-53) At Officer Chisari's request, Pressley (who evidently had a better angle) noted the license tag of the red Geo Metro and wrote it on his hand. (T321,348) The red Geo Metro belonged to Michelle McGrath. (T272-77,383-87,507-9) Police later recovered

the car about 7:00 p.m. on May 24th parked at the Holiday Club Apartments off Curry Ford Road. (T383-87, 462-69,512)<sup>4</sup>

A pushbar from the door leading from the alley where McGrath's body was found to the parking lot had a partial right palm print that matched Thomas Gudinas. (T529-30,546,549,552-62) Police also found Gudinas' left and right thumbprints on a bank payment book found in McGrath's car. (T535,547, 562) The forensic witnesses admitted that there was no way to determine when the fingerprints were left on the items. (T549-50,565)

#### PENALTY PHASE

The State presented only documentary evidence during their case-in-chief at the penalty phase. (P44-49) The State introduced evidence that Gudinas had previously been convicted of two counts of assault, one count of battery, one indecent assault, and breaking and entering of a conveyance. These offenses occurred in Massachusetts in the early 1990's.<sup>5</sup>

Tommy Gudinas' mother was barely sixteen when she married. She gave birth to Tommy at age seventeen. (P170-71) After five years of marriage and numerous separations, Tommy's mother

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> At approximately 3:00 p.m. on May 24, 1994, another citizen saw a man driving McGrath's car in an erratic manner. She picked Gudinas' picture from a photographic lineup as one of two photographs that looked like the driver. (T462-69)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Mrs. Gudinas explained that Tommy's conviction for breaking and entering a motor vehicle was not a "stranger on stranger" crime. The owner of the car was a very good friend of the Gudinas family. (P207-8) Tommy's conviction (P3) for assault with the intent to commit rape was also an act committed on a friend of Tommy's, perhaps a girlfriend. (P208-9)

divorced his namesake. (P170-71) Two weeks before Tommy's birth, Mrs. Gudinas<sup>6</sup> was hospitalized with severe toxemia, a form of blood poisoning. (P172-73) It was a very difficult birth. Mrs. Gudinas went into convulsions during delivery and had no memory of the birth. (P173) She did not see her son for two days. (P173) She remained in the recovery room, hooked up to a number of machines. (P173-74)

Tommy was born with fluid on the brain. (P174) His mother watched as they inserted a very thin, seven inch tube into the back of his head. Blood squirted out the back of the tube. (P174) Tommy remained in the hospital with his mother for two weeks. (P174-75) During his first six months of life, Tommy suffered from Sudden Infant Death Syndrome. When he stopped breathing, his mother rushed him to the hospital. They made at least six trips those first few months. (P175) As a small child, Tommy suffered from extreme temper tantrums, which his mother saw as a cry for help. (P210-11)

Mrs. Gudinas described her marriage to Thomas, Sr. as "happy, but confused." (P176) During the first few years of Tommy's life, his mother worked and his unemployed father stayed home with the children. (P191-92) Mr. Gudinas liked to dress up in his wife's negligees and underwear<sup>7</sup>. (P176) He explained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Although Tommy's mother had long ago divorced and remarried, counsel will refer to her as Mrs. Gudinas to avoid confusion.

 $<sup>^7\,</sup>$  Mrs. Gudinas attributed her happy but confused state to her extreme youth. Apparently, she and Mr. Gudinas were divorced before she reached the age of twenty-two. (P176)

that he liked the silky feel of the material.<sup>8</sup> (P176) He did not hesitate to engage in this behavior in front of the children. (P176-77)

His mother said that Tommy was "always a short little kid, and everybody would always make fun of him for being so short." (P198) Tommy's cousins frequently beat up the smaller boy. (P210) Mrs. Gudinas agreed with Dr. Cohen that, at age thirteen, Tommy looked approximately eight years old. (P198-99) Tommy was always bothered by his delay in maturation. It was frequently a subject of his counselling discussions. (P199) He was anxious and depressed about it. (P199)

Tommy's mother admitted that her children were "disciplined very strangely." (P177) After the children complied with instructions to wash their hands for supper, Mr. Gudinas would repeatedly inspect their hands, find a spot, and order them back into the bathroom. The children usually ended up washing their hands five times before they passed muster. (P177)

When Tommy was three, his father caught him and his cousins playing with matches. (P100,148-49,177-78) The elder Gudinas taught his son a lesson by placing the child's hand on a hot stove burner. Mr. Gudinas also attempted to punish one cousin similarly, but **his** mother intervened. (P179) Needless to say, Tommy screamed and cried. The other children were very frightened. (P179) After the trauma of having his hand burned

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> There was some hint that Tommy was sexually abused by someone as a child. (P201)

by his own father, Mrs. Gudinas noticed changes in Tommy's behavior. (P180-81) He still bore the physical scar on his left hand. (P157,180-81)

When Tommy was about seven years old, his father punished him for soiling his bed sheets. Mr. Gudinas forced his son to stand outside in the snow wearing only his underwear and a sign announcing, "I will not wet the bed." (P149,183)

The family once took a camping trip in Massachusetts by a lake. (P183-84) At one point during the trip, Tommy and his sister were nowhere to be found. Mrs. Gudinas frantically ran to the lake where she found her children at the lake's edge. Relieved, she returned with them to camp. Mr. Gudinas immediately took Tommy into the tent and smacked him so hard, his face was bruised. (P184-85) Another time, Tommy's father picked him up and threw him forcefully to the ground. (P184) Mrs. Gudinas never reported any of these incidents to the authorities. (P185) Mr. Gudinas never struck Tommy's sister, Michelle. (P184) The difference in discipline was "noticed" but never discussed. (P153,184-85)

Although she denied physical abuse, Mrs. Gudinas admitted she was emotionally abused during her marriage. (P185) After finally divorcing her husband, Mrs. Gudinas allowed the father to take the children on a three-week vacation. He absconded with the children and illegally had "custody" of them for almost three years. (P151,182) After living with his father for a couple of years, the children were returned to the proper custodial parent,

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