## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RILED SPECIMENTS

AUG 12 1996 |

CLEAN OF THE CLEAN

THOMAS LEE GUDINAS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 86,070

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR # 0998818
444 SEABREEZE BLVD. 5TH FL.
DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

In his brief, Gudinas relies on Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973), for the proposition that it is error for the trial court to sustain the State's objection to inadmissible evidence offered by the defendant. However, Chambers was decided upon and is limited to its particular facts, which turned upon peculiarities of Mississippi evidence law which are of no application to this case.

At the time of Chambers' trial, Mississippi law did not recognize a hearsay exception for declarations against penal interest, and expressly limited that exception to declarations against pecuniary interest. *Chambers*, 410 U.S. at 299-300. There is no similar issue in this case, and Gudinas does not suggest what

Florida hearsay exception is applicable. The Chambers Court specifically limited its holding to the particular facts and circumstances of that case, and emphasized that the "respect traditionally accorded to the States in the establishment and implementation of their own criminal trial rules and procedures" was in no way affected. Id., at 302-303. Chambers is of no help to Gudinas--the only relationship between Chambers and the facts of this case is that a criminal defendant is not relieved of compliance with the rules of evidence. The evidence which Gudinas claims was erroneously excluded was classic hearsay which fell within no exception to the hearsay rule. Refusal to admit that evidence was not error.

To the extent that Gudinas complains, in the last paragraph on p. 60 of his brief, that he believed Detective Griffin's testimony to be "so strong" that he "forfeited final closing argument", the most that that claim does is complain about a strategic decision that did not turn out as planned. That does not state a claim of any sort, much less a claim of constitutional magnitude. "Such is the stuff out of which trials are made", Solomon v. Kemp, 735 F.2d 395, 404 (11th Cir. 1984)--appellate reversals do not come from the same events. This claim is wholly meritless, and the convictions and sentences should be affirmed in all respects.

#### X. THE JURY INSTRUCTION/PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENT CLAIMS

On pp.62-68 of his brief, Gudinas argues that he is entitled to a new penalty phase based upon jury instruction errors and because of the prosecutor's closing argument. These various claims are either procedurally barred because there was no timely objection, meritless because they are foreclosed by binding precedent, or, alternatively, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The individual claims are separately addressed below.

#### The Mitigation Jury Instruction

In the first sub-claim, Gudinas argues that the jury instruction on the burden of proof required for mitigating circumstances "placed an undue burden on the defense to prove mitigating factors." The instruction which, according to Gudinas, accomplished this result was:

A mitigating circumstance need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt by the defendant. If you are reasonably convinced by the greater weight of the evidence that a mitigating circumstance exists, you may consider it established.

(TR333) The part of that instruction which Gudinas claims raised his burden of proof is the phrase "by the greater weight of the evidence". The claims contained in Gudinas' brief are procedurally barred because they were not raised at trial, are without merit, and are, in the alternative, harmless error.

To the extent that Gudinas claims that there is reversible error because the requested jury instruction (that was given) was not submitted in writing, that claim was not raised below. Florida law is well-settled that the absence of a contemporaneous objection results in a procedural bar to later appellate review. See, e.g., Steinhorst v. State, supra. Likewise, the claim that the jury instruction as given placed an increased burden of proof on the defendant was not raised below and is, therefore, procedurally barred. Id. (TR243-49).

Further, even if this claim was not procedurally barred, it would not be a basis for reversal because the jury instruction correctly stated Florida law. Under long-standing precedent, the defendant's burden of proof as to mitigating circumstances is the "greater weight of the evidence" standard. See, e.g., Ferrell v. State, 653 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1995); Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994); Nibert v. State, 574 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1990); Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990). That proposition of law is settled, and, since the jury was properly instructed in accord with Florida law, there can be no error. 44 Florida law is long-settled

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>To the extent that Gudinas complains that greater weight of the evidence "sounds suspiciously like preponderance of the evidence", that complaint makes no sense. Both terms refer to the same standard. See, Walls, supra.

that the trial judge's decision regarding the jury instructions "has historically had the presumption of correctness on appeal."

State v. Bryan, 287 So.2d 73, 75 (Fla. 1973).

To the extent that Gudinas complains that the jury was never given a definition of "greater weight of the evidence", it is true that no such instruction was given. However, it is also true that Gudinas did not submit a proposed instruction defining the greater weight of the evidence. (TR248)<sup>45</sup> It stands reason on its head to allow the defendant to place the trial court in error based upon grounds that could have been avoided by the submission of a jury instruction further defining the greater weight of the evidence. Counsel did not present a true alternative, and this claim is procedurally barred. Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 648 (Fla. 1995); Castro v. State, 644 So.2d 987, 991 n. 3 (Fla. 1994).

Alternatively, even if there was error, that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury was specifically instructed that the defendant did not have to prove mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt (TR333), and, in any event, the proposed mitigation was so weak that it could not (and did not)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Gudinas' attorney did comment that the absence of a definition was of concern to him (TR245), but he never offered a proposed instruction, and continued to insist on the standard jury instruction. (TR248)

outweigh the substantial aggravation that exists in this case. See pp.3-4, above. The jury could not have failed to understand that the burden of proof that applied to mitigating circumstances was less than the reasonable doubt standard, and, in view of the long-settled presumption that juries follow their instructions, it is simply not possible to conclude that any error that may have occurred had any effect at all on the jury's verdict in this case. See, e.g., Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527,112 S.Ct. 2114, 119 L.Ed.2d 326 (1992); Gorby v. State, 630 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1993). Without conceding that error occurred, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt based upon the facts of this case. DiGuilio, supra.

## Gudinas' Special Requested Jury Instructions Were Properly Denied

Gudinas next claims that it was error for the trial court to deny his requested jury instructions concerning the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator and the catch-all mitigating circumstance. As to the mitigating circumstance instruction, Gudinas claims that he was entitled to a jury instruction that listed his proposed non-statutory mitigators. Further, Gudinas challenges the constitutionality of the standard jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator. All of these claims

are foreclosed by binding precedent.

Gudinas' claim that the jury should have been instructed that acts occurring after the victim lost consciousness are not relevant to the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator is without merit. First of all, the matters contained in the proposed instruction were covered in the charge that was given to the jury. The jury was instructed that "[t]he kind of crime intended to be included [] as heinous, atrocious or cruel is one accompanied by additional acts that show that the crime was conscienceless or pitiless and was unnecessarily torturous to the victim." (TR331-32) The jury was also instructed that actions of the defendant which took place after the victim was dead play no part in the applicability of the HAC aggravator. Id. The latter component of the instruction was as requested by Gudinas, with the deletion of the reference to actions which followed loss of consciousness. Florida law is settled that refusal of a proposed jury instruction is not error when the substance of the requested instruction is covered in the charge given to the jury. See, e.g., Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1985). The (modified) standard instruction given to the jury adequately covered the concept contained in the refused charge, and there is no error. Under the instructions given the jury, it is clear that the actions of the defendant had to be unnecessarily torturous to the victim--subsumed within that statement is the premise that the victim must be able to perceive the pain inflicted. Gudinas' penalty phase jury received a proper instruction on the HAC aggravator, and, in fact, received more than is required because the trial court also gave the post-mortem acts instruction which is not required to be given. The standard instruction was all that Gudinas was entitled to, and that instruction has been repeatedly upheld by this Court. 46 Johnson v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S343, 346 (Fla. July 13, 1995); Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1992); Mendyk v. State, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989).

In any event, the instruction proposed by Gudinas reflected, at most, a refinement in the law which need not be the subject of instructions to the jury. See, e.g., Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982). To the extent that Gudinas claims that "the evidence clearly supported the conclusion that the victim was

<sup>46</sup>The HAC instruction read as follows: "Heinous" means extremely wicked and shockingly evil. "Atrocious" means outrageously wicked and vile. "Cruel" means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to, or even enjoyment of the suffering of the other. The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious or cruel is one accompanied by additional acts that show that the crime was conscienceless or pitiless and was unnecessarily torturous to the victim. (TR331-32)

unconscious during much, if not all, of the attack", the evidence is hardly as ice clear as the defendant suggests. To the contrary, the evidence, when it is fairly considered, is far more consistent with the victim being conscious during a substantial part of the ordeal. See pp.12-15, above. That is a question for the fact-finder, and there is no error.

Alternatively and secondarily, without conceding that error occurred, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the murder Gudinas committed was heinous, atrocious or cruel under any possible definition of that aggravator. See, e.g., Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So.2d 313, 315 (Fla. 1993); Gorby, supra.

#### The Prosecutorial Argument Claim

On pp. 65-68 of his brief, Gudinas raises two separate claims relating to the prosecutor's penalty phase closing argument. Both of those discrete claims are procedurally barred because they were not preserved at trial, and, alternatively, are not grounds for reversal because they are meritless.

Florida law is settled that a claim of error based upon prosecutorial argument is not preserved for review unless there is a contemporaneous objection accompanied by a motion for mistrial. See, e.g., Allen v. State, 662 So.2d 323, 330 (Fla. 1995); Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994). As Gudinas concedes,

there was no contemporaneous objection to any of the claimed instances of prosecutorial misconduct--nothing is preserved for review, and this Court should apply settled Florida law and deny relief.

Even if the two prosecutorial argument claims contained in Gudinas' brief had been preserved for review, there was no error associated with either of those matters, anyway. Insofar as the prosecutor's argument against the applicability of the "mental or emotional disturbance" aggravator is concerned, that argument, under these facts, was not error. When the argument is fairly considered, it is clear that the prosecutor argued that Gudinas did not fall under this aggravator because he is, simply put, a pathological person rather than a mentally ill one. Of course, not all mental state diagnoses are mitigating in nature, and it is certainly the right (and the duty) of the prosecutor to argue against the application, as a mitigating factor, of a diagnosis such as anti-social personality disorder, which seems to be the diagnosis that is applicable to Gudinas. To state the complained-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>Gudinas' mental state expert testified that his problems have always been behavioral, that he has no real desire to control himself, and that he is manipulative and assaultive. Those characteristics are hallmarks of anti-social personality disorder. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Fourth Edition, 646-9 (1994).

of argument in slightly different terms, the State argued that a defendant is not under a mental or emotional disturbance when he acts in conformance with his personality, which is that of a violent and sexually assaultive person. That is legitimate argument, and there is no basis for reversal.

Alternatively, even if the prosecutor's argument was improper, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, supra. The jury was instructed that the arguments of counsel were not evidence (TR799), and the presumption is that the jury followed that instruction. Sochor, supra. Further, the argument of the prosecutor was a reasonable inference from the evidence that did not deprive Gudinas of a fair trial. That is the standard for reversal, and Gudinas falls far short of meeting it. See, e.g., Darden v. Wainwrght, 477 U.S. 168, 106 S.Ct. 2464, 91 L.Ed. 2d 144 (1986). Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, the sentencing court found the existence of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>Gudinas' argument, on p.67 of his brief, that the mental mitigator would not apply to a person in the throes of a psychotic episode is inapposite. The argument was limited to the facts of this case, and does not lend itself to argument by analogy.

 $<sup>^{49} \</sup>rm The~jury's~sentencing~recommendation~of~death~was~by~a$  vote of 10-2 (TR340-43), a fact that is hardly surprising under these facts.

extreme mental or emotional disturbance mitigator in the final sentencing order. (R618-19) Because Gudinas received the benefit of that mitigator, any error before the jury was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The death sentence should be affirmed.

Gudinas also argues that he is entitled to relief because the prosecutor referred to him as "a monster" during the penalty phase closing argument. As discussed above, there was no contemporaneous objection to that argument (TR296), and, therefore, nothing is preserved for review under settled Florida law. See, Allen, supra; Spencer, supra. Alternatively and secondarily, even if the complained-of argument had been preserved for review by timely objection, there would be no basis for reversal because the comment by the prosecutor, when viewed in the context of the entire argument, did not deprive Gudinas of a fair trial. Under the facts of this case, which unquestionably show a level of brutality that this Court has seldom seen, the reference to the defendant as a monster can hardly have influenced the jury to recommend that sentenced to Gudinas be death. The jury reached recommendation because this case is extremely aggravated and virtually unmitigated, not because of anything the prosecutor said during closing argument. The statement that led to a sentence of death was made by the defendant when he brutally sexually battered and murdered Michelle McGrath. Gudinas received a fair trial, and the death sentence should be affirmed in all respects. See, e.g., Darden v. Wainwright, supra.

Finally, even if the prosecutor's reference to Gudinas as "a monster" was error, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, supra. Even if that reference had not been made at all, it is still clear, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the jury would have returned an advisory sentence of death. That sentence is the one that Gudinas deserves, and it should not be disturbed.

### XI. THE SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE MURDER TO BE ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL

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